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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH CENTRAL DIVISION

IFS FINANCIAL SERVICES et al

Plaintiffs, MEMORANDUM DECISION AND
ORDER
VS.
TOUCHSTONE FINANCIAL OF MIDVALE Case N02:13cv-739
et al
Defendand. Judge Clark Waddoups

This matter is before the court on plaintiffs’ Motion to Enforce Settlementefugzat
(Dkt. No. 50) and defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim (Dkt. Nm &)
plaintiffs Amended Complaint. The court heard oral argument on both motions on May 25,
2016, with attorneys Eric Richardson and Michael Collins representing plaintiffsttarmeg
Bradley NyKamp representing defendartier granting time for additional briefing, the court
took thematter under advisemerfter careful consideration of the parties’ motions,
memoranda, and supplemental briefing, the relevant law and the oral arguments elf toeins
courtDENIES plaintiffs’ motion to enforce the settlement agreement and GRANTS diwfési
motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Plaintiffs are the owners of federally registeféduchstonetrademarksised in
connection with financial services, including asset management, investmerg adeiproducts,

and other forms of financial assistance. In August 2013, plaintiffs brought suistad@fendants
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for allegedly infringing use of plaintiffs’ trademarks by marketing a ¢hmamge of financial
products and services under the names “Touchstone” and “JtonehFinancial and by using
the Touchstone mark in various aspects of their operatioissovery led plaintiffs to the
conclusiorthatThomas H. Lee was the owner or part-owner lbdléégedly infringing entities
and hadselected the company names and directed the use of those names in marketing.
Furthermore, the plaintiffs discovertdthttwo nonUtah entities affiliated with Mr. Lee were
also using the Touchstone name, one in South Dakota and one in Georgia.

In March 2015, the parties began seriously discusssgftiement providing that
defendants, including Tom Lee and the hdtah entitiesvho were then noparties to the
lawsuit, would change their business names and abandon their connections with the Touchstone
mark, that they would have a certain period of time in which to accomplish this change, and that
each party would bedts own fees and costs. In exchange, plaintiffs would dismisselrdse
their claims against defendan{Bkt. No. 50-1). By June 2015 waitten settlement proposal
fleshing out these basic terms was prepared, and the pamigsued to discuss and modify
some of the specific detail®n August 122015, plaintif6’ counsekent defendantsounsela
copy of a written settlement agreement incorporating all changes t@hatg withthe
statement, “[a]Jssuming these are acceptable, | will start getting copies bBignsdclients and
would appreciate it if you would do the same.” (Dkt. No. 50-2, p.B&)ntiffs allege,
undisputedyy defendants, that counsel spoke on the same day and that defendants’ counsel
agreed to the most recent changes and “approved the settlement agreement dd.fatad) (

Plaintiffs signed the written settlenteagreement on August 13, and on August 18

plaintiffs’ counsel sent a copy of the signed agreement to defendants’ coumsklywas



acknowledged with a “Thank you.ld(). On August 26, plaintiffs’ counsel e-mailed defendants’
counsel asking when he could expect the document to be returned signed by the defendants.
Plaintiffs further allege, again undisputed by defendants, that counsel spokephgnelen
Septembel, 2015 about the status of returning a signed agreement. Defendants’ counsel
allegedly informed plaintiffs’ counsel that he expected Tom Lee to sign teragnt on behalf

of himself and all of the affected entities by Friday, Septembigd.4at 45).

On Sepember 8, having not yet received the signed agreement, plaintiffs’ counsel e-
mailed defendants’ counsel to inquire about its statuselByhone later that day, defendants’
counsel responded that defendants had “somenaiarial changes to the agreement” that he
would send.I@. at 5) On September 9, 2015, defendants’ counsel e-mailed defendants’
“additional thoughts” on the agreement and stated that his clients “would like tporeter the
following changes.” The changes included removing Tom Lee individaalyy party to the
agreement (although he would still sign the agreement as a Class A sharehatief the
affected entities)eliminating an obligation for defendants to supply an affidavit attesting to
compliance with abandoning use of the Touchstone mark, and changing the foruimnselec
clause from Ohio to Utah. (Dkt. No. 50-2, p. 62).

Plaintiffs unequivocally refused to consider any changes to the agreementeatenibad
litigation to enforce the agreement.(at 56). Immediately inresponse, on September 10, 2015
defendants performed the material terms of the agreement, namely sabrofskie paperwork
changing the names of all Utah entities bearing the Touchstone Imaddition, counsel for
defendantsnformed plaintiffsby email thatdefendants had begun the paperwork to change the

names of the nobiah entities antiad begun the process of changing the associated websites.



This email also stated that “Mr. Lee is making it clear to me that he is not interested in
protracting this litigation and has every intent to make the name changes as inti@dted.
63). It also stated that this was “really a good faith effort to make the materiageshan
contemplated by the agreement we are negotiatiid)” (

On September 24, 201plaintiffs filed amotion for leave to file an amended complaint
to add Mr. Lee and the two ndstah entities as dehdants, along wita motion to enforce the
settlement agreemer{Dkt. Nos. 49, 50). Defendants opposed the motion to enfoece th
settlement agreement as mantlicating that their conduct on Septembed&énonstratethey
believed an agreement had already been reacheditacting to their opposition the written
Settlement Agreement and Mutual Relesigged orOctober 8, 2015he same day they file
their opposition memorandum. (Dkt. No. 53).

Thesignedwritten agreementequiredthat within ten business days of all parties
executing the written settlement agreement, plaintiffs would file with the court a 8tpula
voluntarily dismissing this civil actiarBettlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Relea$el0.Plaintiffs did not
do so. The written agreement atsgia deadline of November 1, 2015 for defendants to abandon
their use of the Touchstone marks, and November 2, 2015 for defendants to supply an affidavit
“swearing under penalty of perjury that they have fully satisfied thepective obligations to
abandon any use of the Touchstone Marks” as set forth in other sections of the i ig&esne
“detailing all steps taken taccomplish their complianceld. at 7. As previously noted,
defendants began complying with these provisions on September 10, and then submitted an

affidavit from Tom Lee on November 3, 2015 setting forth his knowledge about steps taken by



the entitieso comply with the obligations as outlined in treettlement agreemeh{SeeDk.
No. 63-2, p. 5).

On November 5, 2015)aantiffs sent a detailed-mail to defendants outliningvie
complaints abouthe complianceset forthin Tom Lee’saffidavit: (1) failure to transfer domain
names to plaintiffs (as opposed to abandoning or cancelling them); (2¢ taildelete all social
media accounts utilizing the Touchstone marks (as opposed to abandoning or discontinuing
them); (3) failure todentify the specific names of owners, investors, shareholders, members,
partners, and officers who were notified about the requirement to cease usemfdhstdne
mark, and the date and means by which they were notified (as opposed to stating that “al
managers” were notified bymail on September 9 and “shareholders” were notified onb@cto
13); (4) failure to modify the mobile application (as opposed to discontinuing it and sketing
the mobile application is no longer being offered); and (5) Tom Lee’s failuredonadly know
(rather than to affirm “upon information and belief” or to his “understanding”) tHfahdants
had complied with the terms of the settlement agreendnat(5-6).

Plaintiffs alsostatedthatthe reason for their own decision notismiss the action
pursuant to the agreement weecause they “were forced to move to enforce the Settlement
Agreement and are entitled to recover their attorney fees andaodtsng so under paragraph
20 of the Settlement Agreementld.). Because of this, plaintiffs alledethey could not dismiss
the suit “with the understanding that [defendants] will comply in all respetds).’Rlaintiffs

then extendedefendantsteadline until Monday, November 16, 2GbSake action to rectify

! Plaintiffs have not objected to the oday delay for receipt of the original affidavit.
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the “breaches” alleged above and provide a supplemental affidavit verifyirguttiaactions
had been accomplishedd (at 6)

On November 16, 2015, defendants notified plaintifés there was an issue transferring
the web domains, which resulted fréne defendants eartiabandoning the domain names and
thus no loger having access to transfer thddefendants expressed their intent to continue
working with the domain name provider to resolve this issy#aintiffs’ satisfaction(Dkt. No.

63-2, p.8). Later that day, defendants also provpdauhtiffs with the Affidavit of Tami Parris.

Ms. Parrisis a shareholder for some of the defendant entities and was personally involved with
all aspects of complianaeith the settlement agreemeWith respecto plaintiffs’ specifically
identified complaints, Ms. Parris affirmed under oath that: (1) as of that lhateeb domain

name provider was unable to transfer the abandoned Touchstone domain(Baaikesocial

media accounts connected to the defendant entities that used or referenced therf@onans

had been deleted or requested to be deleted; (3) all specifically mameds, investors,
shareholders, members, partners, and officers were notified of the requirermleandon use of

the Touchstone mark by telephone and e-mail ospkeificdates identified in September and
October 2015; and (4hatthere was only one mobile application associated with the Touchstone
name and that it had already been completely akbatd was no longer available for uSae

also affirmed that as of that date defendants had taken all steps known to them to move a
internet connection between the defendant entities and the Touchstone name, whether tha
connection was within their control or under the control of third parties. (Dkt. No. 61-1, pp. 15-

23).



Magistrate Judge Evelyn Furse granted plaintiffs’ motion for leave tthiie amended
complaint on November 18, 2015. (Dkt. No. 55). On Friday, December 4, defendants notified
plaintiffs that they had been able to repurchase several domain names aswsoitidtesl
Touchstone names at plaintiffs’ request in ordehémtransfer them to the plaintiffhey also
identified that the company thiaad created the abandoned mobile application was now
dissolved, and that accomplishing an “edit” may require resurrecting theagpliqDkt. No.

63-2, p.17). And, notwithstanding the existence of the signed written agreement andrdsfenda
significant and ongoing efforts tmoperate andomplywith the material terms of the
agreement, on this same dateymiffs filed their Amended Complaint. (Dkt. No. 56).

Defendants moved to dismiss the Amended Complairfailure to state a claipeiting,
among other grounds, tily executed settlement agreement as proof that no cognizable claim
presentedtself in the amended complairfDkt. No. 61). Throughout December 2015 and
January 2016, the parties continued to communicate regarding the status of conaptiatice
settlement agreemgrwith plaintiffs complaining that there were still problems with tomain
name transfergproblems with permanent deletion of social media accounts, and problems with
the abandoned mobile app not having been modified to remove the Touchstone mark.
Defendants, for their part, identified that their inability to transfer the final renginin
repurchased domain name was due to plaintff@ internal transfer of responsibility for this
task to another department without notifying defendants. They furthetifidd that to their
understanding, all social media accouotsnerly associated with the defendants’ entitvese
no longer in use anthatdeletion had been requested. And finally, they again reiterated that the

mobile application hadden deletecthat any previously downloaded copy of gpplication



leads nowhereshen opened, anthat itcan no longer be purchased. Finally, they complained
that notwitistanding defendantsfforts to substantially comply with tlparties’agreement,
plaintiffs still failed to dismiss theiclaims. (Dkt. No. 63-2, pp. 17-29).

At oral argumenbn the parties’ motionsJantiffs stated thatheyhadnot dismissed
their claims against defendants becauseutétanding compliance issu@$ow, plaintiffs
claimed these issueelateprimarily to the elimination of any internet reference to defendants’
former affiliation with the Touchstone mark, even by third party websitescouats not within
defendants’ control. Defendants responded that due largely to thilesg@aving control of
contentthere has beaumnforeseen difficulty involved in ridding the internet of any trace of their
former association with the Touchstone name, and in any event that they hadlgnateria
compliedwith the settlement agreemeamd ay allegedongoing noncompliance was not
intentional.

The court orderethat plaintiffsidentify all internet sites, web pages, social media
content, or other electronic data of which they were aware that allegedly brdecpasties’
settlement agreement by June 1, 2016, and that thereafter defendants should conduat thei
search fornfringing content (with expert assistance if necessary), removeraliginfy content
identified by either partyand provide a sworn statement specifically identifying their
compliance or all efforts taken in pursuit of such compliance by June 15, 2016. The court then
authorized plaintiffs to provide a resporedhis statemernwithin seven days thereafter. Both
motionsweretaken under submission until the completion of these steps. (Dkt. No. 67).

The parties complied with the court’s ordelaintiff submitted a number of instances of

allegedly noneompliant internet conteméferencing defendants’ prior association with the



Touchstone mark that apgimarily controlled by third partiesncluding SuperPages and Yellow
Page listings, AMFIBI listings, iAg and other local listings, Yelp and Better Business Bureau
reviews, and listings on Dun & Bradstreet, Merchant Circle, Chamber of Camnvéhite
Pages, Cortera, Buzzfile, Manta, and others, as well as on social media addusrase
illustrates thecomplexity and difficulty of removingll traces of any reference to names,
pictures and purported facts once information is published to the intelaietiffs also
continued to complain about a previously downloaded copy of the abandoned mobile application
that displays a Touchstone mark, although it does not function and leads nowhere. (Dkt. No. 68).
Defendants hired an expert who specializes in internet mm@gk&rand reputation
management, and web development to assist them in removing content over which they had
insufficient control. The expert, Nathan Hawkes of Arcane Marketing, LLC, giedvé&. sworn
statement that even experts in this area have difficulties associated with eompletal of
unwanted information from the internet for reasons including: (1) lack of accdts tafaange,
or delete information complely controlled by third partieg2) storage of online information on
servers outsidefdahe United States; (3) lack options to delete, as opposed to edigred by
third party organizations responsible for posting online data; ardk[@y in search engine index
updates lasting from sixty to ninety days after online content has been deletaddMrdi
Hawkes provided detailed information and timelines about his and his staff's &ffogtaove
content referenced by the plaintiffs as b&s any additional Touchstoneferences associated
with defendants that they could independently lodAtigh specific reference to the mobile
application, Mr. Hawkes researched the mobile application and determiné&dghmat longer in

existence. Defendants anticipated that some of Mr. Hawkes’ efifoetsninate unwanted and



largely thirdparty contentvould not be apparent until after the next search engine index update.
(Dkt. No. 69).

In response to defendants’ report, plaintdfuestecdn additional 75 days to provide the
court with a status report on the success daéraddints’ effortsThe caurt granted plaintiff's
request. The plaintiff asserted that 53 instances of “infringing conten#iimechas of August 16,
2016. (Dkt. No. 72). The court now rules on the motions.

l. JURISDICTION AND CHOICE OF LAW

The court has federal question jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331,

because the lawsuit involves claims brought under federal trademark laws,ngd6du.S.C.

88 1114 and 1125 he parties now aske court to address issues related only te¢tidement

of these claimsThe court retains jurisdiction over thisatterbecause judgment has not been
entered nor has the case been dismisseeKokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. C&11 U.S. 375,
381 (1994) (a court does not lose jurisdiction ovéoreement of a settlement agreement before
judgment is issued or a case is dismisseeh;also United States v. Harda§82 F.2d 1491,

1496 (10th Cir. 1993) (while the litigation is still pending before it, a trial courtheapower to
enforce a settleent agreement).

Determining the existence of and enforcing a settlement agreement are legml issu
governed by state contract laBhoels v. Klebold375 F.3d 1054, 1060 (10th Cir. 2004hefe is
clear evidence thdty August 201%he parties agreed tadf@um selectiorprovision that Ohio
law should govern the “construction, validity, and performance” of the settlemeesnagnt,

notwithstanding defendants’ later requibstt plaintiffs considesubstitutingUtah as the forum
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(Dkt. No. 61-1, p. 9). Accordingly, the court will apply Oltontractiaw to address all issues
related to enforcement of the settlement agreement

Furthermore, although the same “Governing Law and Jurisdiction” provlson
providesthat “[tlhe Parties gree that the sole and exclusive jurisdiction and venue for any such
suit shall be in a state or federal cooddted in Hamilton County, OhioSettlem. Agrmt. and
Mutl. Releasgf 22, the court findthat the plaintiffswho insisted on this forum selection
clause, have waivetlby continuing to argue for relief in this cowafterthe parties reached a
settlement in August 2015ee Gordon Flesch Co. v. Sherr@@12 Ohio Misc. LEXIS 6153
(Ohio C.P. April 11, 2012) (fora selection clause can be waived by a plaintiff who seeks relief
in a forum other than the one specified in a contract). Accordirg\cdurtnextturns tothe
motion to enforcéhe settlement agreement

MOTION TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

At oral argument, the parties batdmittedthat a valid settlement agreement exastd
has existed since August 2015. That concession renders plaintiff's original noottbe tourt
to find the existence of a settlement agreemmdt. While this is so, resolution of the remaining
issues in this case requires the court to determine whether defendants’fee&eP015 request
that plaintiffs consider raegotiating three changes to the agreement constituggalidiation or
breachof the August 2015agreementThe court holds that it does not.

A. Defendants’ Modification RequestWas Not An Anticipatory Breach or
Repudiation of the Contract

Under Ohio law, “[a]n anticipatory breach of contract by a promisor is a rejmundgdt
the promisor’s contractual duty before the time fixed for performance hasdatiSoutheast

Land Dev., Ltd. v. Primrose Mgmt., LL @52 N.E.2d 563, 568 (Ohio Ct. App. 20119rBn
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anticipatory breach to occur a party maigtarly andunequivocally repudiate the contract.
Sentinel Consumer Prods. Mills, Hall, Walborn & Assocs673 N.E.2d 967, 970 (Ohio Ct.
App. 1996) Repudiation of a contract requires more than “[a] mere request for a change in
terms.”McDonald v. Bedford Datsy»70 N.E. 2d 299, 301 (Ohio Ct. App. 1989). Repudiation
can be established by “failing to give adequate assurance of performiiftbeThird
Processing, Solution, LLZ Elliott, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120216 *12 (S.D. Ohio Oct. 18,
2011). On the other hangerformance under the contract signals acceptance and intent to be
bound by the terms of the contra@bower Mktg. Direct, Incv. Pagnozzi2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
73343 **8-9 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 29, 2006). Finally, when the parties have already agreed to the
terms of a settlement, assent is not withdragimply because not all parties have signédSee
Miller v. Prompt Recovery Sery2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118568 *N.D. Oho Aug. 25, 2014).
With these principles in mind, the court finds that defend&@#ptember 9, 201f'equest
for a change in terms was matfficientto establish a clear and unequivocal repudiation of the
contractthe partieadmithas been enforcealds of August 12, 2015 hEir requestvas void of
any statement® suggest defendants denied the existence of an agreement or did not intend to be
bound by it whertheir first obligations became due on November 1, 2G1Bthermorepn
September 10, theagt after plaintiffs rejecteddefendants’ proposed terraed threatened further
litigation, defendanteanmediatelyprovided assurance of their performance under the contract
by, first, submitting the paperwork abandoning the Touchstone name in the names of defendants’
Utahbusiness entitiesecondidentifying thatpaperwork was in the process of being prepared
to abandon the Touchstone name for the dtat business entities; third, identifying that the

websites were in the process of being changedfamnth, overtly stating that defendants were
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making a “good faith effort to make the material changes contemplated by ¢eeagt we are
negotiating” and that Mr. Lee was “not interested in protracting this litigatohhas every
intent to make the mae changes as indicate@Dkt. No. 50-2, pp. 62-63).

Even if plaintiffs incorrectly believed thatssgnature was required to create or enforce
thecontract formed on August 12, 2015, defendants’ immediate performance of the keglmater
term abandoning the Touchstone name in their businesses should have signaled pitaircacce
and intent to be bound by the agreement, notwithstandingrtiyeiry about modifying its
terms Furthermore, plaintiffs’ acceptance of this performance also bound themagrdleenent.
SeePower Mktg. Diregt2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73343 at **8-9farties may become bound by
the terms of a contract, even though they do not sign it, where their assent is ethehwated,
such as by the acceptance of benefits undesdhtact, or the acceptance by one of the
performance by the othe)."To the extent that plaintiffs’ arguments imply thlafendants’
September 10, 20)Ferformance wamsufficient tosatisfy them othe existence of the
agreement, Ohio laywrohibitsa party who accepts the benefits of a contract from “inconsistently
claiming no contract.SeeRagen v. Hancor, Inc920 F. Supp. 2d 810, 839 (N.D. Ohio 2013).
See also National City Bank v. Erskine & Sons,, [ht0 N.E.2d 598, 603 (Ohio 1953) (breach
of contract may be inferred from a party’s refusal to “recognize the existen@®ofract” or
doing “something inconsistent with its existence,” neither of which is thehesieg Under Ohio
law, plaintiffs were incorrect to assume that after an agreemaenbeen reached, whether by
verbal assent on August 12, 2Q¥hich all parties agree is the cas@)py performance on
September 10, 2015, that defendants had withdrawn their agreement simply becahaé tioty

yet signed the written agreement.

13



B. Defendants Did Not Breach the Contract Prior to Plaintiffs’ Filing of a Motion
to Enforce

Because plaintiffs have not established an anticipatory breach of the sdttlemen
agreement, the coumust next consider whether there was any other breach of thensettle
agreemenprior tothe plaintiffs’ filing of a motion to enforcéA settlement agreement is
subject to enforcement under standard contract I@ansolo v. Menter20110hio-6241, 1 11
(Ohio Ct. App. 2011).d Ohio, once the existence of a settlenagreement has been
demonstrated, a breach of contract can be found to occur when “the nonbreaching party
performed its contractual obligations; the other party failed to fulfil its cdntxhobligations
without legal excuse; and the nonbreaching partieged damages as a result of the breach.”
Textron Fin. Corp. v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. C684 N.E.2d 1261, 1266 (Ohio Ct. App. 1996).
The only damages alleged by plaintiffs Hreir attorneys’ fees, which the court addresses below.
As for whetheplaintiffs were a nonbreaching party when tfiead for relief, the court begins
by notingthat plaintiffshad the first obligation due under the agreement. This obligation is stated
as follows:

Dismissal of Civil Action Within ten (10) business days of Blrties executing this

Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs shall file with the court in the Civil Action a Stipulation

of Voluntary Dismissal of Claims with Prejudice, in a form substantially consisiém

the one attached hereto as Exhibit A, with the understanding that the Defendants, the

Non-Utah Entities, and Thomas H. Lee will comply in all respects with the terms of this
Settlement Agreement.

Settlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Relea$gel0.
Plaintiffs filed theirmotion to enforce on September 24, 204%0of that datedefendants
had not yet signed the written agreement, even though all parties agee@dbealready an

enforceable agreement in pladéritten execution of the settlement document is a condition
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precedent to the requirement for plaintiffsdiemiss the actianThus, on September 24
plaintiffs’ obligation to dismiss the action had not yet ariged they were a nonbreaching party
at the time of filing

Turning next to the question of defendant’s obligations as of September 24 when
plaintiffs filed their motion to enforce, defendants’ deadlines for compliance remained in the
future, with the majority of defendants’ deadlines scheduled to become due on November 1,
2015 and shortly thereafter. Furthermore, defendants had already begun to perform on the
contractby September 24Considering these facts, the court cannot find that defendants had
breachedhe settlement agreement before plaintiffs filed their motion to enforce

C. Plaintiffs Were First to Breach the Contract Without Legal Excuse

On the other handyhile theirmotionto enforcewas pending, plaintiffereachedhe
settlement agement without legal excudwy failing to dismiss this civiaction by October 22,
2015, ten businestays after all parties had executed the written setthé@greemerdn
October 8, 20155ee Settlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Rele&s&0. Written execution of the
settlement documemtias the only condition precedent to the requirement for plainaftssmiss
the actionNevertheless, lpintiffs argue that they are justified in refusing to dismiss the action
because defendants delayed affixing their signatures to the agreetmehtmeant that
plaintiffs did not haven“understanding” that defendants would “compiyall respects” with
the agreemen{Dkt. No. 632, p. 24).

The court is not persuaded by this argument. As discussed previously, defendants’
signature was not required to establish the existence of the agreemenireitireOhio law or

under the terms of the agreement itself. Even if plairttiélgeved a signatuneererequired,
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defendants signed the agreement on October 8, 2015, which triggered plaintiffsiambligat
dismiss the case by October 22, 2% their September 1Performance, defendants had
alreadyassured plaintiffs of their intent to comply with the material terms of the agreement; b
their subsequent signatures on the written document, defendants gave plaingésaroto
assume by October 22, 2015 that defendants would not “comply in akttespTherefore,
plaintiffs had no legal excuse for théailure to dismiss the acticand that failureonstituteghe

first breach of the agreemeht.

? Plaintiffs also argue that they are justified in refusing to disrhissittion because defendants had not
complied in all respects with an attorneys’ fees provision under paragraptt2Oagfreement hey

argue that defendants’ delay in signing the agreement triggered the atéeegyrovision such that
payment of these fees was required for defendants to “comply in all respectshevagreement before
plaintiffs had a duty to dismiss the action. (Dkt. No. 63-2, p.Rddagraph 20 reads as follows:

Remedies for Breach of Settlement Agreem&he Paiies expressly covenant and agree that, in
the event that the Defendants, the Nétah Entities, and/or Thomas H. Lee breaches this
Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs shall be entitled to recover from gahing party its

attorneys’ fees and costs in a suit or other proceeding to enforce this SdttemeEmment.

As previously explained, howevelamtiffs are incorrecthat defendants’ delay in signing the written
documentepudiated or breached tparties’ agreement or rendered it unenforceablerdihéhe terms

of the agreement or under Ohio |&8ee National City Bank10 N.E.2d 598 at 60&n inference of
breach of contract is not established where a party does not deny the existenagreément or take
actions inconsistent with the agreement). Thus, the attorneygr@éasion of paragraph 20 was not
triggered. Raintiffs arealsoincorrect that the agreement required defendants to comply in all respects
with the terms of the agreemedygforeplaintiffs had an obligation to dismiss the action. To the extent that
plaintiffs’ “understanding” that defendants intended to comply wittatireement was shaken by the
alleged delay in obtaining thiesignatures, defendants’ Septembep#&€formance of material terms of
the agreement should have rehabilitated their understanding. Thus, thisrdrtailmas a justification

for plaintiffs’ failure to dismiss

* Given plaintiffs’ pending motion before this court at that time, suchiggsthcould have included
language preserving the court’s jurisdiction to later enforce thersettt agreemeishould it become
necessaryseeKokkonenb11 US. at 38182, or it could have been an outright dismlisgigh plaintiffs
pursuing arenforcement actignf any,in Ohio per the forum selection clauidther way, plaintiffs’
failure to dismiss is a breach of the settlement agreement.

16



D. DefendantsDid Not Breach EssentialTerms of the Contract Such That
Plaintiffs’ Obligations Under the Contract Were Discharged

The court finds that defendants did not breach a material term of the pantezshagt
after their obligations arose beginning November 1, 20h&s, plaintiffs’ obligations to dismiss
the civil actionhave not been dischargédhio law identifies five factorthe court cartonsider
in determining whether a party has violated an essential term of an agre€indhe extent to
which the injured party will be deprived of the benefit of the bargain; (2) thatdstevhich he
injured party can be compensated for the lost benefit; (3) the extent to which thery gacty
suffers a forfeiture; (4) the likelihood that the breaching party can cuyeesh under the
circumstances; and (8)e extent to which the breaching party has acted in good faith and has
dealt fairly with the injured partyixon v. Northridge2008-Ohio-2744, { 36 (Ohio Ct. App.
2008) (citingSoftware Clearing House, Inc. v. Intrak, In883 N.E.2d 1056, 1060 (Ohio Ct.
App. 1990).The court evaluates each breach alleged by defendants by the apglaatéa¢s).

1. Affidavit and November 1 Notice of Abandonment.

The agreement’s requirement for affidavit verifying defendants’ abandonment of the
Touchstone markegins agollows:

On November 2, 2015, each of the Defendants, the Non-Utah Entities, and
Thomas H. Lee, or someone authorized to testify on their behalf, shall provide
Touchstone with an affidavit (or affidavits) swearing under penalty of pehaty t
they have fully satisfied their respective obligations to abaadgruse of the
Touchstone Marks, as set forth in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 of this Settlement
Agreement, detailing all steps taken to accomplish their compliance and attesting
that theyhave, among other things . . .

Settlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Relea$er.
The paragraph goes on to reference the requirements set forth in other paragitamhs of

agreement. In its reference to paragrapli the agreementvhich requires that defendanisey
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notice by November 1, 2015 to their “owners, investors, shareholders, members, ,pamthers
officers” that the Touchstone mark is being abandoned and its use must ceasigawie aff
provision adds a requirement that the notified individuals, and the date and means ofiaotificat
must be identifiedn the affidavit. The court findglaintiffs’ claims that defendantgeachedhe
affidavit requirements, particularly those related to paragraph 5 of thenagméeare non

material quibblesNothing in the agreement required that the affidavit be provided by someone
personally involved in the tasks of compliance. Similarly, notimrtge agreement suggested
plaintiffs’ unilateral interpretation tha sworn statement of belief or understanding thatraont
obligations had been satisfied was unacceptable. Finally, nothing in the agrepea#ired that

the notified individuals must be named personadiher than identified bgategory which is an
equally viable interpretation of the provisidrin ary event, defendants cured teficiencies
perceived by plaintiffs’ interpretation of tlafidavit provision and acted in good faith by
providing a supplemental affidavit by Tami Parris, who was personally involvee tasks of
compliance, and individually naming the notified owners and shareholders and supplying
additional information about which of them received notice by telephone as opposeadito e-
Plaintiffs received the benefit of thdaargain.

2. Website domain names

The parties’ agreement ikat defendants first abandon their use of website domain
names using the Touchstone name no later than November 1, 2015, and in furtherance of that

abandonment, transfer the domain name to plain8#gtlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Relea$# 1-3.

*The provisionmdicated that the affidavit should attest that defendants “provided totteapplicable
owners, investors, shareholders, members, partners, and officers of #tmoedsthe use of the
Touchstone Marks, identifying the individuals who were notified, the datéhinawere notified, and the
means by which they were notifieGéttlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Relea$er.

18



An affidavit verification of compliance is then requirdd. at § 7. Neither party disputes that
defendants abandoned use of the Touchstone website domain names by Novembeiril, 2015.
light of plaintiffs’ threat of further litigation after the parties had reacednforceable

settlement agreement, the court cannot find that defendants acted in anythiogdbiatity by
rushing to abandon use of the website domain names on Septenbeiehfonstrate their
willingness to comply with material termsthie partiesagreement. It appears that this rush,
however, led to the unintended consequence of defendants subsequently not owning the domain
name to make @arsfer of them to plaintiffs othe November 1 deadlinBefendants were also
forced to spend a significant amount of time responding to plaintiffs’ pleadirgsSafptember

24 during the period in which they could have otherwise have focused entirely on compliance
Since then, at their own expense, defendaat®repurchased the domain names and transferred
them to plaintiffs The court finds that theethys in accomplishing this task were due to the
actions of both parties, both before and after the domain names were repurchasethidef
affidavits accurately identified the actions tak&he court findshat defendants dealt fairgnd

in good faithwith plaintiffs under these circumstances and that plaintiffs have recewed th
benefit oftheir bargain.

3. Mobile Application

The parties’ agreement is thdgfendants first abandon their use of any mobile
application using the Touchstone name or mark no later than November 1, 2015, and in
furtherance of that abandonment, modify and update any mobile applications oftéredch
marks so as to remove the Touchstone mark from all aspects of such appliSaites.

Agrmt. and Mutl. Releas&" 13. An affidavitverifying compliance is then requireld. at § 7
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The parties do not dispute that defendants abandoned and discontinued use of the only mobile
application it hadhat referenced the Tohstone mark and appropriately notified plaintdfs
this factby affidavit. The court finds faintiffs’ continued objection unreasonable, naméigt
in furtherance of that abandonment, defendants must “modify” and “update” the disabntinue
and non-funtioning applicatiorto eliminate the Touchstone name. The court finds that by
discontinuing the ongoing functionality of this mobile application and withdrawiingnit offer
in all places where it can be downloadddfendants have provided plaintiffs with the benefit of
their bargain. Furthermore, in response to plaintiffs’ continued objection that pigvious
downloaded copies of the non-functioning application still show the Touchstone mark,
defendants have acted in good fdathexploring whether modiationof the defunct application
is nonetheless still possibl€he court finds that the dissolution of the company that developed
the application renders modification unreasonable, particularly becauseatatehave
abandoned use jafffer of, and association with the mobile application.

The court finds thathe modificationrequirement in the contract, because it was specified
as an action to be taken “in furtherance” of the primary requirement to abandonhese of t
Touchstone markyas a remedy anticipatéd the event that theobile applicationwould
continue in use under defendants’ new company names. Nothing in the agreemerd tfegjuire
the defedants choose to continue using this or any atinaile applicatiorunder a different
name The court is unpersuaded by plaintiffs’ argumehnét the agreement requires an
abandoned and nonfunctioningpbile applicatiorio nevertheless be modifig@laintiffs
received the benefit of their bargain when defendants discontiheedobile applicatio and

ceased to offer it at any location where it could be downloaded.
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4. Social Media Accounts and Elimination of Internet Presence.

The parties’ agreement is that defendatandon their use of social media accounts
connected to the Touchstone name no later than November 1, 2015, and in furtherance of that
abandonment, delete all social media accounts utilizing any of the TouchstoneSetté&m.
Agrmt. and Mutl. Releasq 13. An affidavit verification of compliance is then requirétl.at
1 7. In addition, a separate paragraph addresses a November 1, 2015 requirement te eliminat
defendants’ internet presence related to Touchstone marks, which includes (1hgeamyvi
reference to Touchstone marks from websites under defendants’ control (ineubtéamgnated
but nonexclusive listof websites) (2) “take all steps necessary to take down from any website
they do not control” any reference to Touchstone marks associated or dfflittedefendants;
and (3) “hereafter assist Plaintiffs howewecessary, and at his own cost, to remove any
additional vestiges on the Internet, or in social media, or in other digital atigiba-formats”
any reference to Touchstone marks associated or affiliated with defer&kttiesn. Agrmt. and
Mutl. Releasef 4.

At the outset, the court notes that the settlement agreement explicitly ansithaatter
deleting the businesses’ Touchstoakated social media accounts and taking all the steps they
could to remove Touchstometated content from websitesth controlled by them and
controlled by third parties, “additional vestiges” of Touchstone marks as=sbeaiad affiliated
with defendants would continue to need monitoring and remlakalhe court finds that the
parties’ anticipation of this fact defeats plaintiffs’ afaihat defendants breached thesens of

the contract
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The November 16, 2015 Affidavit of Tami Parris identifies that the businessed’ socia
media accounts, including Facebook, Twitter, Pinterest, Flickr, Instagtamhli;, and varios
blogs, were deleted or deletion requests were made. Although plaintiffs subseqoemlained
that defendants had nd¢letedsuch accounts, the record did not inltiakveal any details to
supportplaintiffs’ assertionsSee, e.g.Dkt. 63-2, p. 23Ms. Parris’ affidavit also certified that

Any website referencing the name Touchstone over which the entities have
control has been deleted. At this point in time there may be third party sites
making the connection between the name Touchstone andf¢éimelaet entities.
The defendant entities have taken all known steps at this point to remove any
comection to the Touchstone name.
Affidavit of Tami ParrisDkt. No. 61-1,  20.
Although the plaintiffs’ motion to enforcadinot initially claim that MsParris’assertion was
incorrect, at oral argument plaintififstroduced this claim angrovided several examples
demonstrating the existence of largely thpattyinternetsites making connections between
defendants and the Touchstone m8dcauselterewas insufficient evidence for the court to
evaluate whether the social media and internet presence terms had been matechky] bhea
court ordered plaintiffs to identify with specificity any ongoing infringgugial media and
internet presence. Ftne sake of fairness given the court’s authorization for plaintiffs to
supplement the record, the court also authorized defendants to make their owrieefioth
identify and clean up content alleged to constitute a breach of the agreement.

Upon revew ofboth parties’ supplemeaitinformation the court did not find angf

defendants’ Touchstoneferencingousinessocial media accounts still in existen©f twelve

specificallyidentified social media page#legedly breaching the partiejreemet) ninewere

attributable to the failure by Michael Gibbons, a shareholder and manager diethdaais’
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Springville location, to modify all instances of the word “Touchstone” or a photo obtimef
“Touchstone Financial” signage in profile and otba@tions of his personal and grotiitter,
Facebook, rterest, LinkedInFoursquare, and Google Plus pages. With the exception of the
Pinterest account, which did not have any enhindappeared to have been an account
establisheanly for the purpose of viewing other Pinterest pages, Mr. Gibbons’ social media
accountsall showed evidence of modificationsflectinggood faith effortsaat compliance as
early as September 10, 20I3ne LinkedIn account referenced by plaintiffs is owned by a
former employeeOne Google Plus reference to the Touchstone mark was a review written by a
formercustomer. The last account referenced thas of another owneBanny Gibbons’
LinkedIn page, whiclalsoshowed evidence good faith effortdo comply with thechange in
the company’s namé&-or their part, dfendants specifically identified their exgemfforts to
search, delete, and/orodify (where deletion was impossible) adistigialsocial media content
identified by plaintiffs and themselveand noted that as ttustomer reviews and former
employees, defendants had no abtityaccesso control that content.

The court finds that thedew social mediaeferences, which showed evidence of
compliance effortdhavenot deprivedlaintiffs of the benefit of theipargain Additionally,
there is clear evidence that defendants’ expert has or will have completelyuture
references to Touchstone on defendants’ social media accounts except wherestoienreLor
a former employee reference their interactions with defendants whewdheknown under the
Touchstone name. Plaintiffs have not shown how such liméiedencesiave damaged avill

damage them. Accordingly, the court finds thegire is no breach of an essential term because
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defendants have acted wibod faithand dealt fairly with plaintiffs with respect to the social
media accounts

As for the “dimination of internet presence” provision, there is no question for the court
that the thirgparty references identified by plaintiffs and defendants’ expert coeshtut
“additional vestiges” anticipated by the parties’ agreement. Defendants’ exibextd in
careful detaihis elimination of many such “vestiges” and his efforts and anticipated success in
eliminating the remaining “vestigeslaintiffs’ second supplemental response showed that
defendants’ expert was largely successful, reducing alleged vestigi@neds identified by
plaintiffs from 119 to 37 and reducing alleged vestigial references idertiifidéfendants from
64 to 15> (Dkt. No. 72). The court further notes tita¢ agreement’s term “additional vestiges”
contemplates the resl that defendants’ compliance with this provision cannot be perfect, and
finds it unreasonable for plaintiffs to require defendants’ perfeatioemoving thirdparty
content prior to undertaking their own obligations under the agreement. Therefa®rthe
cannot find that plaintiffs have been deprived of the expected benefit of theimbdtgther, the
court concludes that defendants are not willfully or wrongfully maintaining amettpresence
using plaintiffs’ mark andpecifically finds thatlefendants’ effortswhich have been madg
their own expensarereasonablyikely to cure any “vestiges” remainin@efendanthave

acted with good faith and dealt fairly with plaintiffs

> The court notes that plaintiffs appear to have overstated the ramamint of allegedly infringing
content by including websites upon which the court can find no trace of infgingaterial or where the
site itself identifies that the “Touchstone” husss is closed. The court anticipates that a further number
of allegedly infringing thireparty sites appear posed to drop off this supplemésitahortly based on its
review of actions taken by defendants’ expert on similar sites that haveyalregoled off the list.
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E. Attorneys’ Fees

The record reveals that each party’s agreement to bear their own costs rreysittees
was a material term of the settlement, althoageluctant one on plaintiffs’ part. (Dkt. No. 50-1,
p. 5).Plaintiffs now claim that the court shoulawardthemattorneys’ fees for a breach of the
settlement agreement upon a finding that defendants acted in bad faith or, as previously
discussed, on the basis of the attorneys’ fees provision in paragraph 20 of the settlement
agreement.

1. Bad Faith

Under Ohio law, bad faith “is more than bad judgment or neglige@m®&nant Dove
Holding Co., LLC v. Mariner Health Care, In20130hio-3824, § 7 (Ohio Ct. App. 2013t
implies a dishonest purpose, moral obliquity, conscious wrongdoing, breach of a known duty due
to ulterior motive, ill will comparable to fraud, or antual intent to mislead or deceive another.
Id. “A party seeking attorney fees based onbad-faith . . .must be the prevailing party in the
litigation, and then must prove that his opponent acted in bad fddh(quotingStrum v.
Strum 590 N.E.2d 1214 (Ohio 1991)). In light of the court’s findings that defendants did not
denythe existence of the August 2015 settlement agreement, did not repudiate threeagbge
asking for modifications in September 2015, performed the material termsagfréfement in
September, October, and November 2015, did not breach essential or material teems of t
agreement thereafteand acted in good faith and dealt fairly with plaintiffs to subsequently

cooperate with plaintiffs’ demands, the court cannot firad plaintiffs are the prevailing party in
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the litigation nor that defendants acted in bad faiffurthermore, the court has found that
plaintiffs, not defendants, are in material breach of the agreement. All of dgwifog precludes
plaintiffs’ request for an award of attorneys’ feesthe grounds of bad faith.

2. Attorneys’'Fees Under Paragraph.20

Plaintiffs citeHitachi Med. Sys. Am. v. Livingston MR, LIZ®10 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
32084, at *8 (N.D. Ohio Apr. 1, 2010) aKdroy v. Peters 20130hio-3384, 3 2013 Ohio
App. LEXIS 3461 (Ohio Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2013) for the proposition that Ohio courts routinely
award attorney fees to parties “who must move to enforce the agreement agaipattyjre
opponent” when there is provision for suathaward in a settlement agreemé¢bkt. No. 54, p.
4). Plaintiffs further allege that defendants’ failure to sign the settlement agretreed them
to “seek the Court’s assistance in enforcing the Settlement Agreement,” $sarillarsituations
in bothHitachi andKilroy. Id. The court disagredabat the cases are analogolunsHitachi, a

defendant attempted to avadbsettlement agreemdny arguingthat he lacked authority to enter

®The court is not persuaded by plaintiffs’ representationTtbeti v. Antioch Uniy.967 F. Supp.2d

1176, 1202 (S.D. Ohio 2013) is an analogous case that the court should consider in finding defendant
have similarly acted in bad fhito support an attorneys’ fees award. The facts of that case reveal that the
day after settlement was reached with the assistance of a mediator, Toestedgnodifications to the
agreement including demands that the University affirmatively deny ttai Was to blame for any

actions that led to their dispute and commend and/or thank him for his patiehogediation skills. He

then demanded changes in how the agreed-upon terms were worded to reflect onabtyfapon him.
When the University declined these requests and requested that Tochesigmgement actually

reached, Tocci threatened further litigation including a $1.3 million ddrf@ damages on the grounds
that the University’s refusal to make his changes meant that it was notpliaoaee with the agreement.
Similar threats and demands continued for an additional month, at whichdooebEgan denying the
existence of an agreement. At an evidentiary hearing on the Universityanrtwmenforce, Tocci

testified that the terms he agd to were substantially different than those testified to by the oediat

the University. At no time did he affirm his intent to be bound by the rhterms of the agreement or
perform the material terms of the contract. While the Ohio court fdodi’'s behavior to be in bad faith,
Tocci's behavior is not at all analogous to defendants’ behavior here, gunested changes to the
agreement once, never denied that an agreement had been reached, affirmativethestattsht to be
bound, perfamed the material terms of the contract before signing the contract, and #igncontract as
written by plaintiffs.
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into the agreemen2010 U.S. Dist. LEXS 32084at *5. In Kilroy, defendants attempted to
escape their obligations under an agreement because it was oral, the wrigereagted not
been executed, defendants alleged they did not “intend to be bound by an agreement until
formalized in a written document signed by both sides,” and on the grounds that execution or
approval of an agreement required “voting and passing a resolution approving areagieem

an open meeting.” 2013hio-3384 at 1 16.

As discussed previously, here, unliigachi and Kilroy, defendants did nateny the
existence of an agreement and have never attertgpotaaid their obligations under the
agreement. Defendants’ performance of the material terms of the agreement orb&epfem
2015, alone, demonstrates tp&tintiffs were not “forced” to seek the court’s assistance to
enforce the agreement, because their performance indicated either acceptance ceassigan
the contract, or both. Furthermore, as discussed above, by September 24 the defendants had not
breached the agreement such that plaintiffs were “forced” to seek the courtaressiginally,
the court’s finding herein that defendants did not subsequently breach the agreertgent on i
essential terms precludpkintiffs from an award of attorneys’ fees under this provision.
Plaintiffs’ motionto enforce, including a request for attorneys’ feehus DENIED in its
entirety.

MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED COMPLAINT

The court finds that plaintiffsamended claims araoot kecause the parties both agree
that a valid settlement agreement was entered into on August 12, 2015 regarding tredfact
causes of action alleged phaintiffs’ Complaint,and as to all partiefacts, and causes of action

alleged inplaintiffs’ First Amended Comjlint “Under Ohio law, a settlement agreement is a
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contract designed to terminate a claim by preventing or ending litigaNemwinan v. Canyon
Med. Ctr, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 113579 *5 (S.D. Ohio Aug. 15, 2014) (internal quotations
omitted) QuotingKohus v. Graco Children’s Prods., Ind3 F. Supp. 3d 829, 834 (S.D. Ohio
2014).The parties’ intent regarding contract terms sudtismissals anchutual releases is
“presumed to reside in the language they choose to employ in their agredfostdr"Wheeler
Enviresponse, Inc. v. Franklin Cty. Convention Facilities A@h8 N.E.2d 519, 526 (Ohio
1997). As previously discussed, paragraph 10 of the agreement contains a term requiring
plaintiffs to dismiss the civil action upon the condition of defendants signing thensetti
agreementThe parties’ settlement agreematgoprovides that plaintiffs shodlrelease their
claims against defendants as follows:
Subject to, and in consideration of, the mutual releases set forth herein; the
agreements of the Defendants, the Non-Utah Entities, and Thomas H. Lee to
abandon the Touchstone Marks by November 1, 20@5heir fulfillment of all
such terms as set forth in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 of this Settlement
Agreement; and all other covenants included in this Settlement Agreement,
Plaintiffs . . . do hereby fully and forever surrender, release, acqditischarge
the Defendants . . . from any and all claims, demands, actions, causes of action,
damages, attorney fees, costs, expenses, debts, covenants, promises, agreements,
and controversies of whatsoever kind and/or nature, at law and/or in equity,
wheter known or unknown, that were asserted or could have been asserted in the
Civil Action, that arise out of or relate to the subject matter of the Civil Action, or
that relate in any way to the Touchstone Marks.
Settlem. Agrmt. and Mutl. Relea$ell.
Thecourt hagejected each of plaintiffs’ argumerdenying that their duty to dismiss had
arisen The court haalsofound that defendants have materially complied with the agreement.
Thus, the court finds thaismissal is requiredothby paragraph 10 anithe mutual release

language cited above. The mutual reldad®woad enough to contemplate covering the facts,

causes of action, and defendantplaintiffs’ Amended ComplaintNewman 2014 U.S. Dist.
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LEXIS 113579 at *6 (“[BJroadlyworded releases agenerally construed to include all prior
conduct between the parties.”) (internal quotations omitted). Accordingly, theGRANTS
defendants’ motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint on these grounds and does not
consider the alternative grounds asserted in defendants’ motion.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the court DENIES plaintiffs’ motion to enforcgetiement
agreement and GRANTS defendants’ motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint. The complaint
is dismissed ande clerk of court is directed to close the case.

DATED this 9" day of September, 2016.

BY THE COURT:

%@f oty

Clark Waddoups
United States District Court Judge
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